1985

Jerry Aarts v. Willow Creek Country Club, a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action commenced by the respondent for breach of an employment agreement, whereby respondent alleged that appellant failed to pay respondent one-third (1/3) of respondent's yearly salary upon his termination pursuant to paragraph 1(f) of the employment agreement. Appellant answered and counterclaimed, alleging that cause for dismissal was sufficient under the terms of the agreement because respondent's actions which led to his dismissal were unethical and constituted an act moral turpitude.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This is an appeal by appellant from the judgment of the trial court in favor of the respondent. The case was heard by the Honorable David B. Dee, Judge of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

What is the standard of conduct which constitutes unethical conduct and moral turpitude, and whether the trial court erred in not granting appellant's motion for a new trial.

Appellant seeks a determination reversing the decision of the lower court, finding that respondent was discharged for cause and that the acts of the respondent which had led to his dismissal were unethical and constituted an act of moral turpitude, or in the alternative that the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were erroneous and that appellant is entitled to a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 5, 1980, appellant and respondent entered into an employment agreement. (R. 68) Under the terms of the employment agreement, the respondent was to act as club manager and perform certain designated services. Paragraph 1(f) of the employment agreement sets forth the conditions by which the appellant could terminate respondent's employment:

If, in the judgment of the board of directors of the employer [Willow Creek Country Club], the manager [plaintiff] fails to perform any of his obligations or duties hereunder, and the board of directors determines that the conduct of the manager is unethical, involves gross negligence or a breach of moral turpitude, this contract shall terminate at the option of the employer upon thirty (30) days notice to the manager. In the event, however, the employer shall wish to terminate this contract without sufficient cause or reason, employer shall pay manager one-third (1/3) of one year's salary as liquidated damages (emphasis added).

On January 23, 1983, pursuant to the recommendations of appellant's board of director's, respondent's employment was terminated. (R. 68) Appellant, in terminating respondent's employment, claimed that certain actions by the respondent were unethical and involved acts of moral turpitude. These acts were:

1. Respondent issued salary checks to appellant's employees from which checks respondent did not deduct federal and state taxes and FICA;
2. Respondent issued salary checks to individuals for services rendered who were not employed by appellant;

3. Respondent issued salary checks to one of appellant's employees [Frank Rotunno], which check allegedly compensated that employee for living expenses and travel expenses without consideration to the appellant;

4. Respondent issued bonus checks to two (2) employees and required those employees to pay him some amount from those bonus checks as a cash kick-back;

5. Respondent received services at his personal residence from two (2) of appellant's maintenance workers when these employees were on duty for appellant, and for which appellant received no compensation. (R. 13)

Based on each of these allegations, appellant contended that it had sufficient cause to terminate the respondent's employment pursuant to paragraph 1(f) of the employment agreement.

Subsequent to trial, the court ruled that none of respondent's actions were acts which amounted to gross negligence, unethical conduct or acts of moral turpitude. The court found that appellant breached its employment agreement with respondent in that it terminated respondent without cause and failed to pay respondent one-third (1/3) of his annual salary as liquidated damages. (R. 108-109)

The trial court thus determined that the respondent had been damaged in the amount of \$13,800, plus interest at twelve percent (12%) per annum from January 23, 1983 to the date of judgment, and attorney fees and court costs incurred in enforcing

the employment agreement. (R. 111)

The appellant objected to the original judgment rendered by the trial court for the reason that the court failed to make Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Counsel for respondent thereafter submitted prepared Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. 98-100)

Appellant objected to Finding of Fact No. 17 for the reason that respondent, in his answer to appellant's counterclaim, admitted that he received funds from a bonus given to Donna Hagblom, an employee of Willow Creek Country Club. At the trial, respondent denied that he received any funds from Donna Hagblom in any amount and stated in direct examination that he received no kickback funds from Donna Hagblom. (R. 268-269) Donna Hagblom testified unequivocally that respondent stated on two occasions that he would give her a bonus if she would return part of it to him in cash and keep quiet about it. (R. 235-236) The appellant also objected to Conclusions of Law Nos. 3, 5, 6 and 7 upon the grounds that the Court should have concluded that the admitted receipt of a kickback from Donna Hagblom on two occasions was a payment to the respondent of an unauthorized bonus which amounted to embezzlement of appellant's funds. (R. 99)

The appellant further objected and argued that the court should have concluded that accepting services from appellant's employees while on duty was a theft of services under §76-6-409(2), Utah Code Annotated. (R. 99)

Appellant objected to Conclusion of Law No. 3 for the reason that the actions of respondent constituted unethical conduct or acts involving moral turpitude. Appellant asserted that the findings of the trial court that appellant was entitled to setoff against the judgment constituted a recognition that respondent received services from appellant's employees without compensating appellant. (R. 99-100) Theft of services over \$100 is a Class A misdemeanor and theft of funds in excess of \$250 is a third degree felony. See §76-6-412, Utah Code Annotated.

The trial court on April 10, 1985, entered an amended judgment entitling respondent to the sum of \$13,800, together with interest at the rate of twelve percent (12%) per annum from the date of judgment, and entitling the respondent to the costs of the action in the amount of \$41.50 and attorney fees in the amount of \$3,500. Further, the trial court in its Order awarded appellant an offset of \$105 against the above judgment for personal services rendered for respondent by employees of appellant while on company time. On May 24, 1985, the trial court entered an order denying appellant's motion for a new trial and rejecting appellant's objection to Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The court ordered that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were to remain as entered on April 10, 1985. (R. 110-111)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent's receipt of unauthorized kickbacks and services constituted acts of moral turpitude and unethical conduct

and therefore, under the terms of the employment agreement entered into between appellant and respondent, respondent was properly discharged from his employment. The trial court erred in not granting appellant's motion for a new trial in that the evidence did preponderate to appellant's benefit, showing that respondent did request and did receive unauthorized kickbacks and services from appellant's employees. The trial court found that the appellant was entitled to an offset of \$105 against the judgment amount entered based upon respondent's receipt of services from employees of appellant, while these employees were on duty for appellant. This in itself would constitute theft of services pursuant to §76-6-409(2), Utah Code Annotated, which must be considered as unethical conduct on the part of respondent.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

RECEIPT OF UNAUTHORIZED "KICKBACKS" AND SERVICES BY RESPONDENT CONSTITUTES ACTS OF MORAL TURPITUDE

A. The Receipt of Unauthorized Kickbacks from Employee Donna Hagblom Constitutes Acts of Moral Turpitude.

In her testimony before the court, Donna Hagblom was questioned as to whether she was required to return to the respondent certain portions of two checks written on the account of appellant in the amounts of \$300 and \$419.85 advanced to her as a "bonus". Mrs. Hagblom testified as follows:

Question: How did the [opportunity to receive
the bonus] come about?

Answer: ...I know Mr. Rotunno and Mr. Aarts were downstairs having lunch and they called me over there.

Question: When you say "downstairs having lunch," where was that? At the club?

Answer: At the Willow Creek Country Club in the Willow Room.

Question: Okay. Go on.

Answer: And they called me over and said there was some money in the gratuity fund and they were going to give me a check and I was to give part of it back to Mr. Aarts. (R. 232-233)

Question: Exhibit 6 contains a check for \$300 written to Donna Hagblom. Is that the \$300 that you are --

Answer: Yes it is.

Question: -- describing for the court?

Answer: Yes.

Question: What specifically did they ask you to do with respect to the money?

Answer: To give half of it back to Mr. Aarts.

Question: In cash?

Answer: Yes. Uh huh.

Question: And did you question them at that time?

Answer: No, I didn't.

Question: What did you in fact do when you received the \$300 check?

Answer: I cashed it, and I gave \$150 to Mr. Aarts.

Question: Where did this transaction take

place?

Answer: It was in his office, and I went in and put it on his desk. (R. 233)

The witness Mrs. Hagblom further testified that the respondent and herself had a conversation in the respondent's office where he told her he would give her a check out of the gratuity fund for a certain amount of money if she would give him all but \$100 of it back. At trial, the witness testified as follows:

Question: Mrs. Hagblom, I call your attention to December, 1982. Did you have an opportunity to receive a bonus in December, 1982?

Answer: Yes, I did.

Question: I call your attention to Exhibit 6 again, the face fly leaf you described on that exhibit has an amount of \$450 [\$419.85 after taxes] and the initials of Mr. Aarts. Do you recall a meeting you had with Mr. Aarts concerning this authorization?

Answer: Yes, I do.

Question: Where did that meeting take place?

Answer: In his office.

Question: And who was present?

Answer: Just Mr. Aarts and myself.

Question: And do you remember how that meeting came about?

Answer: Well, he just called me in and told me he was going -- if he gave me a check out of the gratuity fund for this amount of money if I would give him all but a hundred dollars of it back.

Question: Did you question him as to why he wanted you to do that?

Answer: No -- he was my superior. I didn't question him.

Question: Did he suggest to you anything about keeping the matter confidential?

Answer: Yes. He said "Don't say anything to anybody." Of course I said I wouldn't, but I did. (R. 235-236)

Question: [Mr. Haslam] Now, after you received the check, what did you do after that? I'm talking about the \$419.85 check.

Answer: I went down to the bank and cashed it.

Question: And did you return the funds to Mr. Aarts?

Answer: All but \$100 of it.

Question: So you gave Mr. Aarts \$300 of the \$419.85?

Answer: Right.

Question: Now, after that transaction had taken place, did you have an occasion to have a conversation with any other person at Willow Creek Country Club about the transaction?

Answer: Yes, I did. It was about a week or so later and Annie Laurie [Baker, a Willow Creek employee] was coming out of the ladies restroom and she was really upset and was feeling very bad. And I said, "I know how you feel. I don't feel right about it, but please don't say anything about it to anybody." (R. 236-237)

At trial, Annie Laurie Baker testified that she had spoken with the witness Donna Hagblom about the fact that Mrs. Hagblom had received several bonuses from Mr. Aarts and had been asked to return part of the bonus to Mr. Aarts. At trial she

testified:

[Annie Laurie Baker]: We were talking about the fact that she [Donna Hagblom] had received several bonuses from Mr. Aarts and had been asked to return part of the bonus to Mr. Aarts.

The Court: Okay.

Question: [Mr. Haslam] Okay. After you had that conversation with Donna Hagblom, what happened after that Mrs. Baker?

Answer: Well, that was a Friday afternoon. And Monday morning I repeated the conversation to Chell [a Willow Creek Country Club employee], and Chell called Byron Watts [at that time president of Willow Creek Country Club]. Byron Watts called Bert Bruns [a member of the Board of Directors of Willow Creek Country Club at that time], and Bert Bruns came out and talked to both Chell and me. And the very next day I knew they had fired Mr. Aarts. (R. 205-206)

Testimony at trial was clear that the respondent could not share in bonuses paid from the appellant's gratuity fund.

Testifying before the trial court, Annie Laurie Baker testified:

Question: [Mr. Haslam] Now, who had the discretion to -- to give bonuses at Willow Creek Country Club while you were working there?

Answer: Mr. Aarts.

Question: And did Mr. Aarts as manager share in those gratuities?

Answer: No, he did not.

Question: Those are just specifically for the employees?

Answer: Uh huh. (R. 211-212)

The record demonstrates conclusively that respondent did

in fact receive unauthorized kickbacks from bonuses paid to the witness Donna Hagblom from a Willow Creek Country Club account, and these kickbacks precipitated respondent's termination.

The respondent, in response to the allegations set forth in paragraph 4 of appellant's counterclaim (R. 14), admitted that employee Donna Hagblom was paid a bonus of \$419.85, and further admitted that Mrs. Hagblom returned some of that to respondent, but alleged that she did so of her own accord.

In defining the term "moral turpitude", the courts have determined as follows:

Moral turpitude is an act of baseness, vileness or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellow man, or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rules of right and duty between man and man. It appears from the authorities to the rule without exception, that the offense of obtaining money from another by fraud or false pretenses, or larceny after trust, or crimes malum in se, involve moral turpitude.

Huff v. Anderson, 90 S.E.2d, 329 (Ga. 1955).

The testimony is clear and convincing that the activity engaged in by the respondent with respect to receipt of the funds from Donna Hagblom, in and of itself constituted acts of moral turpitude. The board of directors of appellant concluded that respondent breached a duty owed to appellant, and thereafter terminated respondent pursuant to paragraph 1(f) of the employment agreement. (R. 222)

The question of whether certain actions constitute acts

of moral turpitude is a question of law to be determined from the record on appeal. See In Re Pearce, 136 P.2d 969, 970 (Utah 1943). The Utah Supreme Court has held that moral turpitude is anything done knowingly contrary to justice, honesty or good morals. Moral turpitude implies something immoral in itself, regardless of its being punishable by law. Moral turpitude is adaptive; it is determined by the state of the public morals and the common sense of the community. See In Re Pearce, supra, pp. 971-972. In Re Pearce approved each one of these definitions in and of themselves as adequate to constitute moral turpitude.

Certainly the respondent's actions were contrary to the duties he owed the appellant, and on this basis alone, the court should have determined that the actions of respondent involved moral turpitude.

B. Respondent Wrongfully Deprived Appellant Of Employee's Services.

In its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the court determined as follows: "During the course of plaintiff's employment with defendant, and in response to plaintiff's request, Kevin Stewart, a maintenance man employed by the defendant, cleaned plaintiff's house on several occasions, working a total of twelve hours. Plaintiff paid Stewart occasionally for these services, which Stewart provided while he was on duty at the Willow Creek Country Club." (R. 105-106) (Emphasis added)

During respondent's course of employment with appellant,

and in response to respondent's request, Steve Draper [a maintenance man employed by appellant], serviced respondent's evaporative [swamp] cooler for approximately two hours while he was on duty for appellant. (R. 106)

Paragraph 4 of the Conclusions of Law provides that "plaintiff must reimburse defendant for the services of its maintenance men, for a total of fourteen hours at \$5.00 per hour, plus \$35 for transportation costs, or a total offset of \$105." (R. 108)

The trial court recognized that the respondent wrongfully appropriated the services of appellant's maintenance men. This amounts to a theft of services, proscribed by §76-6-409(2), Utah Code Annotated, which states:

(2) A person commits theft if, having control over the disposition of services of another, to which he knows he is not entitled, he diverts such services to his own benefit or to the benefit of another who he knows is not entitled thereto.

Theft of services of \$100 is a Class A misdemeanor, and theft of funds in excess of \$250 is a third degree felony. §76-6-412, Utah Code Annotated. As noted in In Re Pearce, 136 P.2d 969, 970 (Utah 1943), the actual conviction of a crime in and of itself does not determine whether an act constitutes moral turpitude. Generally crimes "malum in se" involve moral turpitude. See In Re Pearce, supra. "Malum in se" is defined as a wrong in itself; an act or case involving illegality from the very nature

of the transaction, upon principles of natural, moral, and public law. An act is said to be "malum in se" when it is inherently and essentially evil, that is, immoral in its nature and injurious in its consequences, without any regard to the fact of its being noticed or punished by the law of the State. See Black's Law Dictionary 5th Ed. p. 865 (1978).

In committing an act which is "malum in se", the person is presumed to intend an actual consequences of his act, and general criminal intent with which an act is done may be inferred from the words and conduct of the actor. See Peck v. Dunn, 574 P.2d 367, 369 (Utah 1978).

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL

In its Findings of Fact the trial court found that "At the conclusion of the trial in this matter, the defendant withdrew the following claims for damages that it made in its counterclaim:

(a) \$1,900 in living expenses and travel expenses paid to Frank Rotunno;

(b) \$300 of Frank Rotunno's bonus which appellant alleged respondent forced Rotunno to return to him in cash; and

(c) \$300 of Donna Hagblom's \$419.85 bonus, and \$150 of her \$300 bonus, which appellant alleged respondent forced her to return to him in cash. (R. 105)

Subsection (c) of the trial court's Findings of Fact in

paragraph 10 is without basis. The transcript clearly demonstrates that counsel for appellant specifically reserved its claim regarding the claim for damages respecting respondent's instructions to the witness Donna Hagblom to return a substantial portion of the bonus taken from Willow Creek funds. The transcript reads as follows:

Mr. Haslam: I will withdraw the counterclaim as far as Mr. Rotunno is concerned, but if your Honor finds these violations with respect to the services performed to the Club -- pardon me, from Mr. Aarts by the Club maintenance men, I think we should have a judgment for the value of those services and also the money that was turned back, the club money that was turned back, from Mrs. Hagblom and Mr. Rotunno, and that in accordance with the evidence, there was a transfer of that. But there is surely \$300 which was returned by Mrs. Hagblom and \$150 paid by Mrs. Hagblom.... (R. 279-280)

Appellant objected to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, citing Mrs. Hagblom's testimony that she would receive a "bonus" if she would return \$300 to Mr. Aarts. (R. 99)

Where the trial court has denied the motion for a new trial, the trial court's denial will be reversed if "the evidence to support the verdict was completely lacking or was so slight and unconvincing as to make the verdict plainly unreasonable and unjust." Nelson v. Trujillo, 657 P.2d 730, 732 (Utah 1982); Pollesche v. Transamerican Insurance Company, 27 Utah 2d 430, 497 P.2d 236 (1972).

As set forth in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the court in making its ruling did not take into account the

claims of the witness Donna Hagblom, mistakenly believing that these claims had been withdrawn. Since the trial court did not take the claim under consideration, there is considerable prejudicial effect on the outcome of this case. One of appellant's major assertions is that respondent's actions in taking appellant's money to award a "bonus" to an employee in order to receive a kickback from that employee, constituted an act of moral turpitude and unethical conduct, which would support the termination for cause as set out in paragraph 1(f) of the employment agreement.

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