1985

Jerry Aarts v. Willow Creek Country Club, a Utah corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Defendant asserts on appeal that there was not adequate evidence in the record to support the trial court's Finding of Fact that Donna Hagblom was not required by the plaintiff to "kick back" monies to him from her bonus checks. The standard of review for such an argument is that a trial court's Findings of Fact will be presumed to be correct, and will not be overturned, as long as they are adequately supported by the evidence in the record. Both plaintiff and a witness for the plaintiff, Frank Rotunno, testified at length that plaintiff did not request any monies from Donna Hagblom as a kick back from bonuses that he had given to her from defendant's funds. In fact, Hagblom herself testified that she wasn't certain if Rotunno or the plaintiff asked her to return monies from her bonus checks.

II. The plaintiff's request of maintenance services upon his personal residence from defendant's employees was not an act of moral turpitude or unethical conduct. The defendant at first analogizes plaintiff's request to a "theft of services" crime, and then assumes that plaintiff in fact committed such a crime. Defendant then argues that the commission of

such a crime is an act of moral turpitude and unethical conduct. Defendant put on no evidence at trial with regard to plaintiff's actions fulfilling the elements of the crime of theft of services. Because it was not an issue at the trial level, the plaintiff put on no evidence with regard to his reasons for requesting the services from defendant's employees, for example that he thought he was entitled to them or that he thought the defendant would not mind his use of the employees for such a small amount of time. Notwithstanding defendant's attempt to characterize plaintiff's acts as criminal in nature, when examined in and of themselves, the actions do not rise to the level of moral turpitude or unethical conduct, as defined in the treatises and case law.

III. The trial court did not err in denying defendant's motion for a new trial. The basis for defendant's claim of error is that the trial court allegedly failed to consider testimony by Donna Hagblom and Annie Laurie Baker that plaintiff required Hagblom to return some of the monies from her bonuses to him. This claim is without foundation in the record. Clearly the trial court did consider such testimony, but found plaintiff's testimony and rebuttal more persuasive, because the trial court made a specific finding of fact that plaintiff did not require Hagblom to return those monies to him.

ARGUMENT

I. The record adequately supports the trial court's finding that plaintiff did not require Donna Hagblom to give monies from her bonus checks to plaintiff.

A. Standard of Review of Sufficiency of Evidence Underlying Findings of Fact.

It is well established that a trial court's Findings of Fact will be presumed to be correct, and will not be overturned, as long as they are adequately supported by the evidence in the record. Wessel v. Erickson Landscaping Company, 15 Utah Adv. Rep. 36, 37 (1985)¹. On appeal, the evidence in the record, and all inferences that might reasonably be drawn therefrom, will be viewed in a light most favorable to the judgment entered. Hal Taylor Associates v. Union America, Inc., 657 P.2d 743, 747 (Utah 1982); Nielsen v. Chin - Hsien Wang, 613 P.2d 512, 514 (Utah 1980). It is not the prerogative of the appellate court to determine whether the

1. In footnote 2 of the Wessel opinion, the court noted that previous cases held the standard for determining the sufficiency of the evidence necessary to sustain a finding to be whether the evidence was "substantial." The court then distinguished between the standard of review of a jury's findings and a judge's findings, and concluded that a slightly broader standard of review for the findings of a judge, that of "adequate evidence," is appropriate.

evidence preponderated on one side or the other. The appellate court will only determine whether the evidence in the record adequately supports the lower court ruling. Reimschiessel v. Russell, 649 P.2d 26, 27 (Utah 1982).

In a case recently decided by the Utah Supreme Court, the appellant challenged the trial court's Findings of Fact in an almost identical manner to defendant's instant appeal. The appellant presented its argument based upon the facts as it had presented them at trial, rather than upon the trial court's findings. The Utah Supreme Court stated that in order to attack Findings of Fact, an appellant must first marshal all the evidence supporting the trial court's findings, and then demonstrate that, even viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings. Scharf v. BMG Corporation, 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985). In the Scharf case, the appellant had not presented evidence supporting his version of the facts, much less the evidence supporting the trial court's findings. In the instant case, the defendant has presented some evidence on the record supporting its version of the facts, but has failed to enlighten the court as to the extensive evidence supporting the trial court's findings.

B. Evidence Supporting the Trial Court's Finding of Fact

The defendant argues that uncontroverted evidence at

trial supports a finding that the plaintiff required Donna Hagblom to "kickback" some of her bonus money to him. The court found otherwise, and had substantial reason to so find.

During defendant's cross-examination of Frank Rotunno, a former employee at Willow Creek Country Club, Rotunno testified about a bonus he received from the plaintiff, and about the monies from that bonus that he voluntarily returned to the plaintiff:

A: I said I received a part of a \$600 bonus for the Utah Open. A part of it.

Q: A part of it?

A: Yes.

Q: How much did you receive?

A: \$300.

Q: Mr. Rotunno, at the time you received that bonus of \$300 did you keep the full amount?

A: No sir.

Q: What happened to the proceeds of the check?

A: I gave with consent from another party working at the club \$100 to Mr. Jerry Aarts.

Q: Who was the other party working at the club you are talking about?

A: I believe the young lady over there in the sort of dark blue suit. (Indicating). [Mr. Rotunno pointed to Donna Hagblom.]

Q: Why did you return \$100 of the \$300 to Mr. Aarts?

A: When I received the \$300 bonus I asked Mr. Aarts if he was going to take any part of it. He said "no." I said "well, I don't think it's right." So I then went to this young lady and told her the situation and said, "I think we ought to give Jerry some money." That is my doing, and Mr. Aarts knew nothing about it and refused it.

Q: Your testimony is that he refused the \$100?

A: The first time, yes, sir. I insisted he take it and left it on the desk, my money and her money. We gave \$100 apiece and that was at my suggestion, and my suggestion only. Mr. Aarts knew nothing about it nor did she until I talked to her.

Q: In other words, this was just a gratuity on your part?

A: Just a nice gesture. He gave me, and I gave in return.

Q: With respect to these living expenses and --

A: I would like to make a note, sir, that when I approached the young lady and I said to her, "I think we ought to give him \$100 apiece," I also said that it would be very good for her because I thought that when I left she would become the assistant manager, and she then gave me the \$100.

Q: It's your testimony that she gave you an additional \$100?

A: She gave me \$100 of the \$300.

Q: You in turn gave those funds to Mr. Aarts?

A: Yes, I did.

Q: You did that as a gratuity?

A: I gave that as a gesture.

Q: A gesture of what?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Of what?

A: Of appreciation.

Q: And you were well paid, were you not, for your work at Willow Creek Country Club.

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Why did you feel that you should have to give Mr. Aarts anything?

A: I didn't feel I had to give Mr. Aarts anything.

R. 189-192.

Defendant noted in its brief that Donna Hagblom testified of meetings with Jerry Aarts and Frank Rotunno where she was required to return some monies from her bonus checks to the plaintiff. R. 232-238. However, what the defendant did not note was Hagblom's testimony regarding her fuzzy memory about these meetings.

Q: [By Mr. Oritt]. Okay. Now, when you testified about this meeting between you and Jerry Aarts and Frank Rotunno you said that they said to keep quiet about it. Do you recall who said it, if Jerry said it or if Frank said it? Do you remember which one?

A: I really, truly don't remember which one.

Q: So it could have been Frank who said don't you think you should give over some of this money to Jerry?

A: Could have been.

R. 238.

In rebuttal testimony, the plaintiff testified with regard to meetings with Donna Hagblom concerning her bonuses.

Q: [By Mr. Oritt]. Directing your attention to the testimony of Mrs. Hagblom earlier today, tell me, Mr. Aarts, why did you give bonuses to Mr. Rotunno and Mrs. Hagblom after the Utah Open in 1982?

A: It wasn't only Donna Hagblom and Frank Rotunno. There was a dozen or so employees that had worked above and beyond. We put in a lot of hours. I think we averaged about 70 hours each that week setting up the stands outside and breaking them down. The staff that is normally not on that gratuity fund, the service personnel, say the bus boys and waiters and waitresses, bartenders, I distributed a portion of that fund to these people and the people in the office. We had a girl stand on the golf course to check the cash from the office. Annie Laurie was picking up the cash.

Q: It was a pretty big event, wasn't it?

A: Yes, it was. Sharon Luhse was on the snack bar and sold sandwiches at the tee, and we had this money left over in the gratuity fund and that's how we distributed it.

Q: What kind of hours did you keep during that event?

A: Same amount of hours, 70.

Q: 70 hours?

A: Something like that.

Q: Now, with reference to Mrs. Hagblom's testimony being required to give some of her money back after the Utah Open, do you recall any meeting between you and Frank Rotunno and Mrs. Hagblom about the bonuses?

A: I recall a meeting where I gave them each a \$300 check and then I believe Frank imposed whether in my presence or not in my presence, Frank said to Donna . . .

Q: Mr. Aarts, do you recall where this meeting took place?

A: No, I do not.

Q: All right. Do you recall who was at the meeting?

A: Myself, Donna and Frank.

Q: And -- and -- okay. Let's take this a step at a time. What did you first do with the bonus checks?

A: I gave them each a \$300 check.

Q: What happened next?

A: The meeting broke and I think Frank came back to me and he said, "I spoke to Donna, and we want you to have this." I said, "Frank, I don't want any part of it." He said, "no. Donna and I got together and we feel you should have some of this."

Q: What did he give you?

A: \$100 from Frank and \$100 from Donna.

Q: All right. Mrs. Hagblom also testified about you requiring some money back from a Christmas bonus. Do you have any recollection of that?

A: No sir.

Q: Did that ever happen?

A: No sir.

Q: Do you recall giving her a Christmas bonus?

A: I gave her not a bonus. I gave her extra money above and beyond because she worked very hard over the holidays, during the, you know, Lights On Season and parties and so forth. I gave her a bonus for that. I gave her extra compensation.

Q: Did you ever ask her to give any of that back?

A: No sir.

R. 266-269.

Frank Rotunno was recalled by the plaintiff as a rebuttal witness, subsequent to Mrs. Hagblom's testimony. Mr. Rotunno testified, on direct examination and cross-examination, that a meeting between Jerry Aarts, Frank Rotunno and Donna Hagblom, to which Mrs. Hagblom testified, never took place. He testified that he spoke with Mrs. Hagblom outside of plaintiff's presence and discussed returning some of their bonus monies to him, and that she voluntarily agreed to do so. R. 274-278.

In short, plaintiff put on a substantial amount of

evidence by which the trial court could find, and in fact did find, that Hagblom had voluntarily returned some of her bonus money to the plaintiff, and that she was not required to do so by the plaintiff. The defendant, however, ignores the substantial evidence rebutting its witness' testimony and assumes, for purposes of its brief, that Donna Hagblom was required to "kick back" monies from her bonuses to the plaintiff. Defendant then argues that such a "kickback" is an act of moral turpitude. The court need not determine whether such a "kickback" would be an act of moral turpitude. There is adequate evidence, indeed substantial evidence, in the record to support the trial court's Finding of Fact regarding monies given back by Donna Hagblom to the plaintiff, and therefore the trial court's finding must be upheld.

II. Plaintiff's request of maintenance services from defendant's employees was not an act of moral turpitude.

The trial court found that plaintiff requested maintenance services on his personal residence from two of defendant's employees, Kevin Stewart and Stephen Draper. Stewart provided 12 hours of service at the plaintiff's residence over the course of plaintiff's two and one-half years of employment by the defendant. Draper provided 2 hours of service at the plaintiff's residence during that time. The

trial court ruled that, since the men were on duty for the defendant when they worked for the plaintiff, plaintiff should reimburse the club the fair market value of the maintenance men's services, plus transportation costs, totalling \$105. Findings of Fact, ¶¶ 11, 13, R. 105-106; Conclusions of Law, ¶ 4, R. 108-109.

As with its argument regarding Donna Hagblom's alleged "kickbacks", the defendant here attempts a boot-strapping argument in order to persuade this Court that plaintiff's acts rise to the level of moral turpitude. The defendant argues that, because the plaintiff improperly requested services from defendant's maintenance men for his personal use, he is guilty of theft of services, which is per force an act of moral turpitude. But defendant's argument fails because the assumption upon which it is based is incorrect. The trial court did not rule as a matter of law that plaintiff's use of defendant's maintenance men was a theft of services.

Defendant did not put on evidence at the trial level fulfilling the elements of the crime of theft of services. Notably lacking in the record is any evidence of the intent of the plaintiff to deprive the defendant of services. Theft of services is a specific intent crime. The prosecution must prove that the accused had the intent to deprive the rightful owner of the services. The accused can defend the charge by

claiming that he either acted in the honest belief that he had the right to obtain or exercise control over the services as he did, or that he obtained or exercised control over the services honestly believing that the owner, if present, would have consented. § 76-6-402(3)(b) and (c), Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended). Had the defendant presented evidence as to the issue of theft of services in this case, the plaintiff could have responded, defending his actions, and the court would have made the requisite Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Instead, defendant assumes on appeal that plaintiff's actions are a theft of services and are "malum in se", that is, an act that is evil in itself, like murder, rape, or kidnapping. However, "malum in se" crimes require only general intent, not specific intent. In crimes such as those, and not in specific intent crimes like theft of services, a person is presumed to intend the natural consequences of his act which can be inferred from the words and conduct of the actor. Peck v. Dunn, 574 P.2d 367, 369-370 (Utah 1978).

Clearly, theft of services is not a "malum in se" crime, and, therefore, the defendant must prove plaintiff's specific intent to commit theft of services, in order to argue that his actions in asking defendant's maintenance men to perform some maintenance work on his personal residence rise to the level of moral turpitude.

The Court must determine on appeal if plaintiff's request for services by defendant's maintenance men on his residence, while they were on duty for defendant, was an act of moral turpitude. An act of moral turpitude has been defined as

An act of baseness, vileness or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowmen or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man.

United States v. Smith, 420 F.2d 428, 431 (5th Cir. 1970) (citing BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1160 (Rev. 4th Ed. 1957)).

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